Filed 11-01-2023

Page 1 of 20

FILED 11-01-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Hon. J. D. Watts Milwaukee County Circuit Case No. 20CF410 Appeal Case No. 22AP2087

v.

DAECORION J. ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE J. D. WATTS PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

NELIDA CORTES Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Cortes Consultations, LLC PO Box 14694 West Allis, WI 53214 (414)217-4533, Office Number (262)563-3265, Alternate Number cortesconsultations@gmail.com

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does Marsy's law permit the payment of restitution when no causal connection exists between the defendant's crime at the time of sentencing and the loss suffered by the victim?

The trial court answered in the affirmative.

2. Can the circuit court order the payment of restitution pursuant to sec. 973.20(1r), Wis. Stats., when the defendant's criminal conduct did not cause the loss suffered by the victims?

The trial court answered in the affirmative.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This matter is an appeal of the circuit court's restitution order. The court ordered Mr. Robinson to pay restitution to the victims of his brother's crimes. The court reasoned that Mr. Robinson's actions on October 25, 2019, subjected him to pay restitution in relation to the damages caused by his brother's actions on October 24, 2019. Mr. Robinson disagrees with the court's rationale and decision and submits the matter for appellate review.

## 2. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

On January 27, 2020, the State charged Mr. Daecorion Robinson (Mr. Robinson) with one count of Harboring or Aiding a Felon – Falsifying Information, contrary to sec. 946.479(1)(b), Wis. Stats. (2). The underlying facts leading up to the charge stemmed from an incident which occurred on October 24, 2019, wherein Mr. Robinson's brother, Daetwan Robinson (D.R.), recklessly drove his vehicle on a Milwaukee city street striking three children. (2:1) Two of the children passed away from their injuries, and the third child "suffered serious injuries," but survived. (2:1) The State charged D.R. with 10 criminal offenses in Milwaukee County Case No. 2019CF4856. (37:1) D.R. ultimately "pled guilty to two counts of hit and run resulting in death and one count of hit and run involving great bodily injury." (58:4).

On May 19, 2021, Mr. Robinson pled guilty to the count of aiding or harboring a felon. (54:4) In preparation for the plea hearing, trial counsel submitted Jury Instruction number 1791 bearing the elements for the crime to which Mr. Robinson would be pleading. (25) Those elements are as follows:

1. D.R. (person aided) was a felon.

- 2. The defendant knew that D.R. had engaged in conduct which constituted (charges filed against D.R.).
- 3. The defendant (destroyed) (altered) (hid) (disguised) physical evidence.
- The defendant (destroyed) (altered) (hid) (disguised) physical evidence with the intent to prevent the (apprehension) (prosecution) (conviction) of D.R. (person aided).

The jury instruction goes on to note that, "[t]his element requires that the defendant had the purpose of preventing (D.R.) from being (taken into custody) (prosecuted) (convicted) or was aware that his conduct was practically certain to cause that result." *Wisconsin JI-1791*.

During the plea colloquy, the court informed Mr. Robinson that his "attorney ha[d] provided [the court] with the jury instructions for [the] offense," referring to the aforementioned instructions. (54:4) The court then asked Mr. Robinson if he "carefully" reviewed the submitted jury instruction, to which Mr. Robinson responded, "Yes." (54:4) Mr. Robinson's guilty plea related to his conduct "after the fact," specifically, to his conduct on October 25, 2019, when he assisted D.R. after D.R. struck the children on October 24, 2019. (44:3) Mr. Robinson was accused of, and pled to, assisting D.R. by partially spray painting the vehicle driven by D.R. on October 24, 2019 – the vehicle that struck the children. (2:2)

At the time of sentencing, the State made several points. First, the State agreed that Mr. Robinson was not the driver of the vehicle that struck the children on October 24, 2019, but rather, it was his brother, D.R., who drove the vehicle. (44:15-16) Second, the State noted that it had "concerns because [Mr. Robinson's] conduct was essentially to then aid his brother in attempting to cover up the incident." (44:15) Third, the State went on to state that after D.R. fled the scene, Mr. Robinson aided his brother "in spray-painting the car that was involved in an attempt to disguise that vehicle." (44:16) Fourth, the State informed the court that in his confession to the

police, Mr. Robinson admitted to "being involved in the spray-painting of the vehicle and the aiding and covering up this offense after the fact...." (44:16) Finally, the Stated noted that D.R.'s case "was more involved given [D.R.] was the person that was responsible for the deaths and the serious injury and the driving and the primary conduct at issue here...." (44:16)<sup>1</sup>

The court also noted several factors at the sentencing hearing. First, the court reiterated the elements of the crime of harboring or aiding a felon. (44:33) In so doing, the court referenced Mr. Robinson's conduct in spray-painting D.R.'s vehicle in an attempt to "disguise the car as being involved in a horrible hit-and-run...." (44:33) Second, when referencing the crimes of which D.R. was guilty, the court acknowledged that Mr. Robinson was "not here for any of those," and "[h]e's not party to a crime." (44:35) Third, the court noted that the court was not "saying that ... [Mr. Robinson] urged his brother to do it or that [Mr. Robinson] had anything to do to create it...." (referencing the crimes attributed to D.R.) (44:34) Finally, the court noted that Mr. Robinson was being sentenced for the "crime of harboring or aiding a felon, and [that] crime itself is different (from D.R.'s crimes)." (44:35) The court ultimately sentenced Mr. Robinson to 41 months in the Wisconsin State Prison System bifurcated as 17 months of initial confinement followed by 24 months of extended supervision. (44:41) The confinement portion of the sentence was considered served because Mr. Robinson had accumulated 17 months and 22 days of pretrial credit. (44:12, 41)

As to the matter of restitution, the Crime Victim Compensation Fund submitted a claim in the amount of \$10,820.12. (44:3) The claim consisted of \$10,000 related to funeral costs for the two children who passed away, and \$820.12 in lost wages for the parents of the children. (44:3) At the outset of the sentencing hearing, the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also the State's acknowledgement that Mr. Robinson was "someone who [was] assisting his brother after the fact - - he was not the driver and so forth...." (44:23)

addressed the matter of restitution. (44:4) The court questioned what "impact...Marsy's Law and the constitutional language that victims are entitled to full compensation" had on the court's decision to order restitution. (44:4-5) Here, the court referenced article I, section 9m of the Wisconsin constitution (hereinafter referred to as "Marsy's Law"). (44:5) Trial counsel opposed the imposition of restitution against Mr. Robinson, arguing that while "victims are entitled to full compensation," as noted in Marsy's Law, the loss suffered by the victims in the present matter "was not a result of Mr. Robinson's crime, but rather his brother's." (44:5) Because the issue of restitution was contested, and the impact of Marsy's Law upon the ordering of restitution was questioned, the court put the matter over for hearing. (44:8-9, 43) The restitution hearing took place on October 19, 2021. (58)

At the hearing, the State argued that a causal connection existed between Mr. Robinson's actions and the injuries sustained by the three children on October 24, 2019. Specifically, the State noted that:

The State's argument is premised on the fact that this defendant's intentional actions of attempting to alter and destroy evidence in furtherance of ensuring that his brother.... But suffice it to say, the intent was at a minimum to ensure that the actions of his brother who was the driver were not able to be prosecuted. (58:8)

This was an attempt to thwart justice in this case. And the fact of the matter is the restitution is something that's acquired during the course of prosecuting the case. This was an intentional attempt at interfering with that in aiding the primary defendant here. (58:8)

And the State's argument to the court for it to consider is that this conduct does directly impact the victim. And for that reason, he should be liable for the restitution. (58:8-9)

The defense objected to the payment of restitution on two grounds. First, the defense maintained that the children's parents, while direct victims of D.R.'s crimes, were not direct victims of Mr. Robinson's criminal conduct, which was to partially spray paint his brother's vehicle after the fact of the hit and run. (58:4) Second, the

defense argued that no causal connection existed between the crime to which Mr. Robinson pled, and the criminal conduct that caused the injuries to the children. (58:4) Specifically, the defense argued that:

The Wisconsin Appellate Court system has defined when restitution can be ordered. The causal connection portion of that is that there has to be – the defendant's criminal conduct has to be a substantial factor in causing the economic loss to the victim...." (58:4)

Mr. Robinson's acts of aiding his brother did not set into motion the events that resulted in the damage or injury to the claimants...in this case. I think that's fairly straightforward. (58:5)

The defense further noted that it did not believe the passage of "Marsy's law...change[s] or affects the Court's discretionary decision with regard to whether to order restitution." (58:5) Finally, the defense stated that the State's "submission" that Mr. Robinson "sought to inhibit prosecution" substantiated the defense's position that the parents of the children were not victims of Mr. Robinson's crime as they were not direct victims of harboring or aiding a felon.

(58:6)

Before rendering its decision, the court noted that the issue presented to the court in this case appeared to be one of "first impression" in Wisconsin. (58:9) The court identified *State v. Tarlo*, 2016 WI APP 81, 372 Wis. 2d 333, 887 N.W.2d 898, as instructive and recited the following language from that court's opinion:

[T]here must be a 'causal nexus' between the crime considered at sentencing and the damage. In proving causation, a victim must show that the defendant's criminal activity was a 'substantial factor' in causing damage. The defendant's action must be the 'precipitating cause of the injury' and the harm must have resulted from 'the natural consequences of the actions.' (58:10) Circuit courts have discretion in determining whether the defendant's criminal activity was a substantial factor in causing any expenses for which restitution is claimed. (58:11)

[W]hile we are to construe 'the restitution statute broadly and liberally in order to allow victims to recover their losses,' those losses must still be shown to be 'as a result of the defendant's criminal conduct. (58:11)

It's a 'bedrock principle' that restitution should reflect and a defendant should be made liable for, 'the consequences of the defendant's own conduct,' 'not the conduct of others.' (58:11)

After noting the language in *State v. Tarlo*, the court stated that, "I recited the applicable law and I have to now cite the applicable facts and then apply the facts to the law." (58:11)

Concerning the applicable facts, the court began by examining each element of the crime of aiding or harboring a felon. Regarding the first element, the court noted that "that element was easily met in this case because the defendant was a passenger in the vehicle when the underlying crime occurred." (58:12) In addressing the second element, the court stated that it was "fairly obvious" that Mr. Robinson was aware that D.R. "had engaged in conduct which constituted the crime of hit and run causing death." (58:13) Moving on to the third and fourth elements, the court identified Mr. Robinson's act of spray painting D.R.'s car as conduct that "altered or disguised the physical evidence" so as to prevent D.R.'s conviction. (58:13)

The court then went on to reason that "when you look at the way that crime is defined, the crime sits in juxtaposition but it also includes the hit and run causing death." (58:13) The court found this rationale significant and indicated that D.R.'s criminal conduct was "included in element 1 of aiding a felon." (58:14). The court also reasoned that Mr. Robinson "was there and knew everything that happened regarding the hit and run causing death." (58:14)

The court mentioned Marsy's law when making its decision. Specifically, the court stated that, "I'm reminded that Marsy's law may enhance the victim's opportunity both to be designated as victims to recover restitution, but primarily the Court's argument is that the conduct of this defendant did substantially cause the damage because of the intertwining of the hit and run causing death in the aiding a felon statute." (58:15) At its conclusion, the court ordered Mr. Robinson to pay restitution to the Crime Victim Compensation Program in the amount of \$10,820.12, joint and several with D.R.  $(58:16)^2$ 

Mr. Robinson subsequently filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief on October 22, 2021. (42) The Notice of Appeal was filed on December 5, 2022. (63)

#### ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ORDERED MR. ROBINSON TO PAY RESTITUTION TO THE VICTIMS OF HIS BROTHER'S CRIMES BECAUSE NO CAUSAL CONNECTION EXISTS BETWEEN MR. ROBINSON'S CRIMES AND THE INJURIES SUSTAINED BY THE VICTIMS. SECTION 9M OF SECTION 9 OF THE WISCONSIN CONSTITUTION DOES NOT ABROGATE THAT REQUIREMENT.

#### 1. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Robinson maintains that the court erroneously exercised its discretion when it ordered Mr. Robinson to pay restitution in this matter. Mr. Robinson argues that while the claimants were victims, they were not victims of Mr. Robinson's crime, but rather they were victims of D.R.'s crimes.<sup>3</sup> Mr.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Robinson does not contest that the Crime Victim Compensation Program may claim restitution, generally, for monies paid by the Fund to the parents of the victims of his brother's crimes to cover funeral expenses and lost wages. Moreover, Mr. Robinson does not contest that the Crime Victim Compensation Fund paid \$10,820.12 to the parents of the deceased children. (58:3) Mr. Robinson argues that he cannot be made responsible for that cost and that the cost is rightfully attributed to his brother, D.R. (58:3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Robinson acknowledges that the Crime Victim Compensation Program is the claimant here but he refers to the actual victims of the case in his argument and analysis as their initial claim is what is at issue here.

Robinson further maintains that the court erred in ordering restitution here because no causal connection exists between Mr. Robinson's crime and the loss suffered by the victims.

Wisconsin law requires that a causal nexus exist between the crime considered at sentencing and the loss claimed. Wis. Stats. § 973.20. The enactment of Marsy's Law does not abrogate the requirement of this finding. Because no causal nexus exists between Mr. Robinson's crime and the loss suffered by D.R.'s victims, the circuit court erred when it ordered restitution here and the decision should be reversed.

#### 2. Standard of Review

The interpretation of a statute, and the application of that statute "to a given set of facts presents a question of law," which the court reviews de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2005 WI APP 201, ¶ 10, 287 Wis. 2d 381, 704 N.W.2d 625, *citing, State v. Loutsch*, 2003 WI APP 16, ¶ 10, 259 Wis. 2d 901, 656 N.W.2d 781. That said, trial courts exercise their discretion when deciding whether a defendant's conduct "was a substantial factor in causing any expenses for which restitution is claimed." *Johnson*, 2005 WI APP 201, ¶ 10, *citing, State v. Johnson*, 2002 WI APP 166, ¶ 7, 256 Wis. 2d 871, 649 N.W.2d 284. A court's discretionary decision "should only be disturbed when there has been an erroneous exercise of that discretion." *State v. Madlock*, 230 Wis. 2d 324, 329, 602 N.W.2d 104 (Ct. App. 1999). In examining the trial court's exercise of discretion, the court reviews "the record to determine whether the trial court logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standard and used a demonstrated, rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Johnson*, 2005 WI APP 201, ¶ 10, 272 Wis. 2d 759, 681 N.W.2d 534.

3. The circuit court erred when it ordered Mr. Robinson to pay restitution to the victims of his brother's crimes because no causal connection exists between Mr. Robinson's crime and the victim of his brother's crimes; Mr. Robinson's criminal conduct was not a substantial factor in causing the injuries to the victims.

Wisconsin law sets forth the parameters within which a court must operate when ordering restitution. Section 973.20(1r), Wis. Stats. states in relevant part that:

When imposing sentence...for any crime...for which the defendant was convicted, the court...shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing, or if the victim is deceased, to his or her estate, unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record. Wis. Stats., §973.20(1r).

Section 973.20(1g)(a), of the Wisconsin Statutes defines "crime considered at sentencing" as "any crime for which the defendant was convicted and any read-in crime." Wis. Stats. §973.20(1g)(a). As such, when a court considers whether to order the payment of restitution, the court must determine whether the restitution sought is for a victim of the crime considered at sentencing.

Wisconsin appellate court decisions have considered the language of section 973.20(1r), Wis. Stats., and have expounded on what must be present before a court may order a defendant to pay restitution. The circuit court here referred to *State v. Tarlo* at the outset of its restitution analysis, and therefore this is where the defense will begin its argument.

In *State v. Tarlo*, the court examined whether the defendant could be ordered to pay the restitution claimed by the victim's mother; the victim being one of the children depicted in the child pornography possessed by the defendant. The defendant in that matter pled guilty to one count of possession of child pornography. *State v. Tarlo*, at ¶2. The mother of one of the children in the images claimed restitution for lost financial support. *Tarlo*, at ¶3. Evidence presented at a hearing revealed that the mother's husband produced the images of her daughter that were later viewed and possessed by the defendant. *Tarlo*, at ¶3. The evidence

also showed that the victim's mother lost her husband's financial support when he was later arrested and incarcerated for producing the pornography at issue. *Tarlo*, at ¶3. In that case, the State "argued that the restitution was appropriate because Tarlo had viewed and possessed the image." *Tarlo*, at ¶3. The circuit court agreed and ordered the defendant to pay restitution. *Tarlo*, at ¶4.<sup>4</sup> The court of appeals reversed.

On appeal, the defendant argued that "the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion" when it ordered the payment of restitution. *Tarlo*, at  $\P5$ . Specifically, the defendant argued that "the family's lost income [was] not related to [his] possession' of the daughter's image." *Tarlo*, at  $\P5$ . The court of appeals agreed.

In rendering its decision, the court of appeals examined whether the victim's loss occurred "*as a result of a crime considered at sentencing.*" *Tarlo*, at ¶6. *citing*, Wis. Stat. §973.20(14)(a) (2013-2014) (emphasis in original). In so doing, the court noted that before a defendant may be ordered to pay restitution, "'a causal nexus' between the 'crime considered at sentencing' and the damage"' claimed must exist. *Tarlo*, at ¶6, *citing State v. Rash*, 2003 WI APP 32, ¶6, 260 Wis. 2d 369, 659 N.W.2d 189. The court went on to note that:

In proving causation, a victim must show that the defendant's criminal activity was a 'substantial factor' in causing damage. The defendant's actions must be the 'precipitating cause of the injury' and the harm must have resulted from 'the natural consequence[s] of the actions. (alteration in original; citation omitted)' *Tarlo*, at ¶6.

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