Brief of Respondent Filed 02-02-2024

Page 1 of 26

FILED 02-02-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP2087-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAECORION J. ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE J.D. WATTS, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it ordered Robinson jointly and severally liable for the cost of the victim's funeral expenses and lost wages.

When ordering restitution for Robinson, the circuit court identified the correct legal standard, and logically applied that standard to the facts. This court should affirm the circuit court's order because the court properly exercised its discretion.

A. Wisconsin's restitution statute is liberally construed in favor of compensating victims for losses caused by a defendant's criminal conduct.

Wisconsin's restitution statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r), states that a court "shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution . . . to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing . . . unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Under this statute, victims have the initial burden to show "by the preponderance of the evidence the amount of loss sustained by a victim as a result of a crime considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a); see also Muth, 392 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 16. "Once this burden is satisfied, restitution is mandatory 'unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Muth, 392 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 16 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r)).

<sup>8</sup> In Wisconsin, a victim is defined by statutes and by the constitution to include the victim's parent if that victim is deceased, except when the parent is the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)4.a., (b); Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(1)(a)2., (b). Thus, a surviving parent is a victim with both a constitutional entitlement and a statutory right to restitution.

Case 2022AP002087 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-02-2024 Page 14 of 26

This mandate is to be interpreted liberally. Restitution is the rule and not the exception, and its primary purpose is to compensate victims.  $State\ v.\ Canady$ , 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 8, 234 Wis. 2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147. In construing a statute, this Court favors "a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that defeats statutory purpose." Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). The restitution statute reflects the "strong equitable public policy that victims should not have to bear the burden of losses if the defendant is capable of making restitution Id. ¶ 22 (citing Canady, 234 Wis. 2d 261, ¶ 8).

The victim has the burden of proving a "causal nexus" between the crime considered at sentencing and the amount of loss sustained by the victim as a result of that crime, showing that "the defendant's criminal activity was a 'substantial factor" in causing the victim's loss. Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 25; Canady, 234 Wis. 2d 261, ¶ 9. A "crime" considered at sentencing' means the crime of conviction and any read-in crime. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a)." Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 24. In Wisconsin, "courts have interpreted 'crime considered at sentencing' quite broadly" to encompass and reasonable inferences concerning defendant's activity related to the 'crime' for which the defendant was convicted, not just those facts necessary to support the elements of the specific charge of which the defendant was convicted." *Id.* ¶25 (citation omitted).

The court considers the "entire course of conduct" related to the defendant's crimes, "not merely the facts necessary to support the conviction." *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 25 (citation omitted). The defendant's actions must be the "precipitating cause of the injury" and the harm must be "the natural consequence[s] of the actions." *Canady*, 234 Wis. 2d 261, ¶ 9 (alteration in original) (citation omitted.) In other words, "but for" the defendant's crimes, the harm for which the victim seeks restitution "would not have occurred."

Case 2022AP002087 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-02-2024 Page 15 of 26

Id. ¶ 12; see also State v. Queever, 2016 WI App 87, ¶¶ 23–24, 372 Wis. 2d 388, 887 N.W.2d 912. "[P]recipitating cause' merely means that the defendant's criminal act set into motion events that resulted in the damage or injury." State v. Rash, 2003 WI App 32, ¶ 7, 260 Wis. 2d 369, 659 N.W.2d 189. The defendant's crime considered at sentencing does not need to directly cause the damage or even intend or expect it; it is "sufficient if the defendant's 'actions were a substantial factor' in causing the damage in a 'but for' sense." Id. (citation omitted).

Circuit courts are limited regarding the type of damages for which they may order restitution. "In any case, the restitution order may require that the defendant . . . . [p]ay all special damages, but not general damages, substantiated by evidence in the record, which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant for his or her conduct in the commission of a crime considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5), (5)(a). The term "special damages" as used in the criminal restitution context, means "[a]ny readily ascertainable pecuniary expenditure paid out because of the crime." *State v. Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 365, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999). Such damages include wage losses, medical, hospital or other similar expenses. *Id*.

## B. The circuit court applied the correct legal standard to order Robinson to pay restitution.

In this case, it is not disputed that the victims' losses, in the form of funeral expenses and lost wages, are compensable under Wisconsin's restitution statute. Nor is the specific amount, or Daetwan's liability, in dispute. The issue is whether the court properly exercised its discretion to order Robinson jointly and severally liable, by concluding that there was a sufficient causal nexus between the crime considered at Robinson's sentencing and the loss sustained by the victims.

Case 2022AP002087 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-02-2024 Page 16 of 26

The answer is yes, because the court applied the correct legal standard and grounded its decision "on a logical interpretation of the facts." *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 18 (citation omitted).

The court identified the correct legal standard as contained in *Tarlo*, and correctly recognized the primary issue as one of causal nexus to the crime considered at sentencing. (R. 58:10.) The court also accurately noted the lack of case law that dealt with restitution in aiding-a-felon convictions, and reasonably observed that "one can see arguments on both sides" of the issue. (R. 58:10–11.) Recognizing this, the court reasoned that (1) the embedded elements of Daetwan's hit-and-run crime within Robinson's aiding-a-felon crime, combined with (2) the specific facts surrounding Robinson's course of conduct, sufficiently showed a causal nexus between the victims' losses and the crime considered at sentencing. (R. 58:15–16); Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r).

Especially considering the supreme court's historically broad interpretation of "crime considered at sentencing," Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 24, the court's application of the legal standard to this case's novel facts was a proper exercise of discretion. Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 18 (citation omitted) (this Court may reverse a discretionary decision "only if the circuit court applied the wrong legal standard or did not ground its decision on a logical interpretation of the facts"); see also Id. ¶ 18 (citation omitted) (appellate courts "look for reasons to sustain a circuit court's discretionary decision"). A review of the court's two primary points of reasoning shows why this is so.

First, the circuit court recognized that the elements of Robinson's charged offense include, and would have required the State to prove, that Daetwan committed the crime of hit-and-run. (R. 58:12–13.) Aiding a felon by destroying physical evidence includes four elements. Those elements are summarized here:

Page 17 of 26

- (1) The person the defendant aided was a felon;
- (2) the defendant knew that the person aided engaged in conduct that qualifies as a crime;
- (3) the defendant altered or disguised physical evidence; and
- (4) the defendant altered or disguised physical evidence with the intent to prevent the apprehension, prosecution, or conviction of the person aided.

Wis. JI-Criminal 1791 (2015). (See also R. 25.) To prove the first element, the State must show that the person aided committed a crime punishable by imprisonment in the Wisconsin State Prisons, and that the person aided committed that crime. In satisfying the first element, the Wisconsin Jury Instructions Committee recommends "that a complete listing of the elements of the 'embedded crime' [as identified in the uniform instruction] be provided." Wis. JI-Criminal 1791, Cmt. 4 (2015).

Relevant to the first element, Daetwan's criminal conduct resulted in multiple charges against him, and he pleaded guilty to three counts of felony hit-and-run, party to a crime. The uniform instruction for the statute underlying this crime provides the following general elements:

- (1) defendant operated a motor vehicle involved in an accident:
- (2) the accident resulted in injury [or death] to any person;

<sup>9</sup> State v. Daetwan C. Robinson, Milw. Cnty. Case No. 2019CF4856, Wis. Ct. Sys. Sup. Ct. & Ct. App. Access, https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2019CF004856 &countyNo=40&mode=details (last visited Jan. 29, 2024).

(3) defendant knew that he had been involved in such an accident;

Case 2022AP002087

- (4) defendant did not remain at the scene of the accident until he had:
  - (a) given his name, address, and the registration number of the vehicle he was driving to the operator of or person attending any vehicle collided with; and
  - (b) rendered to any person injured in such accident reasonable assistance including the carrying or the making of arrangements for the carrying of such person to a physician, surgeon, or hospital for medical or surgical treatment if it is apparent that such treatment is necessary or if such carrying is requested by the injured person;
- (5) defendant was physically capable of complying with the above requirements.

State v. Lloyd, 104 Wis. 2d 49, 59 & n.4, 310 N.W.2d 617 (Ct. App. 1981); see also Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 (2018) (Failure to Give Information or Render Aid Following An Accident - § 346.67)<sup>10</sup>.

In summary, the elements of hit-and-run are included in the first element of the crime for which Robinson was convicted. (R. 58:12–13); *see also* Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 (2018).

The intertwined elements of the crime, combined with the facts surrounding Robinson's course of conduct, support the circuit court's finding of a sufficient causal nexus between the victims' losses and the crime considered at sentencing. When sentencing Robinson, the court found it significant that Robinson "was fully informed of the horror of the crime that his brother had committed" when he helped his brother cover up that crime. (R. 44:35.) Robinson was a front-seat passenger

https://wilawlibrary.gov/jury/files/criminal/2670.pdf.

at:

in the vehicle when the fatal crash occurred. (R. 2:3; Robinson's Br. 16.) His decision to do nothing to aid the victims, but instead to drive away with his brother and conceal the crime after the fact, is all part of a course of conduct that essentially aided his brother in the hit-and-run crime considered at Robinson's sentencing.

In Wisconsin, "courts have interpreted 'crime considered at sentencing' quite broadly" to encompass "all facts and reasonable inferences concerning the defendant's activity related to the 'crime' for which the defendant was convicted, not just those facts necessary to support the elements of the specific charge of which the defendant was convicted." Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 25 (citation omitted).

Robinson's activity related to the crime for which he was convicted include the following undisputed facts:

- (1) Robinson was the front-seat passenger in his brother's car, which was driving in a bicycle lane, passing a line of cars that were stopped at an intersection;
- (2) the car hit three children crossing at the intersection:
- (3) the car didn't stop after hitting the children:
- (4) Robinson did not report the accident, but instead, helped his brother spray paint the car a different color within a day of the crash.

Based on these facts, it is reasonable to infer that Robinson knew that his brother was driving recklessly when the car hit the children, and knew that death or serious injury likely resulted. But instead of stopping or reporting the accident, Robinson helped his brother hide the evidence. (R. 44:24.)

To be clear, the record does not reveal what Robinson said or did inside the car that day, and the circuit court did not make findings that Robinson directly caused the car's collision with the children. But the entire course of conduct for Robinson's charged offense, including that he was present in the car that was driving so recklessly that it caused a visibly fatal crash, that he did nothing to help the victims afterward, and that he helped conceal the car and lied to law enforcement about his involvement, supports a finding that his actions were a substantial factor in causing the victims' compensable injuries. 11 The defendant's crime considered at sentencing does not need to directly cause the damage or even intend or expect it; it is "sufficient if the defendant's 'actions were a substantial factor' in causing the damage in a 'but for' sense." Rash, 260 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 7.

Based on the elements of the crime for which Robinson was convicted, which include the embedded crime of hit-andrun, as well as the facts and reasonable inferences from
Robinson's entire course of conduct concerning his activity
related to the crime for which he was convicted, the hit-andrun qualified as a crime considered at sentencing. Thus, it
was proper for the circuit court to order Robinson to pay
restitution for the funeral expenses and lost wages, which

<sup>11</sup> Under Wis. Stat. § 346.70 the "occupant of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to or death of any person . . . shall immediately by the quickest means of communication give notice of such accident to the police department." Interpreting a closely related statute that requires reporting accidents, Wis. Stat. § 346.67 (Duty upon striking person or attended or occupied vehicle), this Court has said that the requirement exists "so that innocent persons injured in accidents do not go uncompensated, and, of course, to ensure that anyone injured in the accident will be attended to without delay." *State v. Roling*, 191 Wis. 2d 754, 766, 530 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1995). At a minimum, Robinson's failure to report the accident could have prevented compensation to the victims if his cover-up had been successful.

compensated the victims "of a crime considered at [Robinson's] sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r).

### C. Robinson's contrary arguments miss the mark.

Robinson argues that the circuit court erred in ordering restitution because his crime, which he describes as spray painting the car, was not a substantial factor in causing the victims' injuries for funeral expenses and lost wages. (Robinson Br. 13–18.) He also argues that Marsy's Law does not allow a court to order restitution in the absence of a causal nexus between the crime considered at sentencing and the victims' losses. (Robinson Br. 18–19.) Both arguments miss the mark.

Robinson relies on *Tarlo* to argue that spray painting Daetwan's car "in no way played a role in causing the accident that led to the injuries suffered by the children." (Robinson Br. 15–17.) As an initial matter, the circuit court relied on *Tarlo* for the core legal standard pertaining to causal nexus, not the case's specific facts. (R. 58:10–11.) *Tarlo* involved whether a defendant could be ordered to pay restitution for a victim's lost wages, due to his possession of a pornographic image of the victim's daughter. *State v. Tarlo*, 2016 WI App 81, ¶ 5, 372 Wis. 2d 333, 887 N.W.2d 898. Comparing this case to the facts of *Tarlo* is not helpful here, because the facts are materially different, and the circuit court was not relying on them for its restitution decision.

In any event, Tarlo is distinguishable. There, the defendant challenged the circuit court's award of restitution to the mother of a victim of child pornography. Tarlo, 372 Wis. 2d 333, ¶¶ 1, 8. This Court found causation lacking, because "[t]here simply was no evidence presented of income lost or treatment costs incurred, or of income that will be lost or costs that will be incurred, as a result of Tarlo or others viewing and possessing the daughter's image." Id. ¶ 15. The

Case 2022AP002087 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-02-2024 Page 22 of 26

court concluded that the mother failed to meet her burden of proving she incurred any losses as a result of Tarlo's conduct. Id. ¶ 19.

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